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CPRN Mission

Our mission is to create knowledge and lead public debate
on social and economic issues important to the well-being
of Canadians. Our goal is to help make Canada a more
just, prosperous and caring society.

“Let me commend you on the excellent work being
undertaken by CPRN. CPRN has an excellent
reputation within the corporate community and
is worthy of both praise and support.”
– Provincial Utility Executive

“I just read your paper on exploring the meaning of
accountability and enjoyed it immensely. I am sure
many researchers will find it very useful, and it
nicely sets the stage for ensuing CPRN papers.”
– Health Researcher

“Give your people a pat on the back. The clarity of
the writing and the organization of this report are
impressive. My students will benefit a great deal
from the talents of your researchers and writers.”
– Teacher

CPRN’s trademark is its ability to help policymakers and
citizens debate the beliefs, values, frameworks, policies,
programs, and “ways of doing” that will help the country
to cope with social and economic transformation.

CPRN fosters integration in a world that is increasingly
fragmented by discipline, jurisdiction, language and culture.
It has unique process skills for shared learning, which shape
the way research is performed and the way the results are
communicated. It is a neutral space, where diverse groups
of people can reflect, collaborate, and struggle with their
differences in order to arrive at new understandings and
to identify common ground.
CPRN’s leaders are dedicated to generating constructive
suggestions, based on strong analysis and a pragmatic
understanding of what is possible in an imperfect world.

CPRN is independent. It is a non-profit organization
with charitable status. It acquires its funding from diverse
sources – federal and provincial governments, foundations
and corporations. This diversity ensures that no single
voice dominates the research. The Board of Directors
ensures good stewardship of these resources.
CPRN is cost-effective. Projects are ambitious in their scope,
but costs and risks are spread across a number of funders.
Overheads are minimized and start-up times are limited by
attracting expertise from universities, think tanks and other
organizations. Dozens of people volunteer their time to
participate in the governance and the research process.
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CPRN 1995-2005
This winter we begin a year-long celebration of CPRN’s 10th anniversary. We
created CPRN in the first place because we could see a need for the high quality,
evidence-based policy research for which we are now recognized. We had no idea we
would still be active 10 years later. Looking back, we have much to be proud of.
Looking forward, we have great ambitions for our future work.
Yet sustainability, the theme of this year’s Annual Report, appropriately sums up
the daily challenge of organizations like ours, and indeed of the non-profit sector as
a whole. Given the importance of the sector’s contribution to the well-being of
Canadians, sustainability of the sector must also be a public policy priority.
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
prices test $50 a barrel, we worry about the sustainability
of our health care system and our communities.

Judith Maxwell, President

Sustainability:
An Ethical Choice
4
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“Even though the relationship between economic
growth, wellbeing and human happiness is tricky
territory, it is territory that should no longer
be avoided...”
- UK Sustainable Development Commission
“Ingenuity consists not only of ideas for new
technologies but, more fundamentally, ideas for
better institutions and social arrangements, like
efficient markets and competent governments.”
- Thomas Homer Dixon
A colleague once said to me, “What do I owe future generations? They never did anything for me.” In that remark,
he summarized the ethical challenge of life on this planet.
Today, no one should joke about the problem of
sustainability. Just as global warming makes our weather
more turbulent, AIDS ravages whole continents, oil

More than ever, we have to think seriously about our
ability to make choices that “meet the needs of the present
without compromising the ability of future generations
to meet their needs.” The problem is we have trouble
making sustainable choices when key interests are in
conflict. Even when the future trends are inevitable,
like the ageing of Canadian society, we cannot agree
on how to balance the needs of the older and younger
generations alive today!
And when Canadians cannot agree, governments at
all levels are reluctant to act until forced to do so.
Even then, they do not always make the best decision.1
The result: we lose precious time adapting to the new
circumstances or taking preventive action. When
you and I do this, it is called procrastination.
Yet there are promising signs. In CPRN’s recent citizen
dialogues, we have noticed a distinct tendency for
Canadians faced with difficult choices on health care,
budget policy or the management of used nuclear fuel
to make ethical choices that balance their rights and
their responsibilities.
Whether the issue is our water supply or disposal of
radioactive waste, participants in our dialogues accept
their responsibility for pricing consumption today in
terms of the costs it imposes on future generations.
This is, at root, an ethical imperative.
The limitation of dialogues, however, is that only a
few hundred people participate. Canadians at large
need meeting places where they can have these deeper

discussions with their fellow citizens. It is only through
face to face conversation that human empathy emerges.
And it is empathy that triggers that sense of responsibility
to others, born and unborn. It is the ability to put
oneself in another person’s shoes.

Toward Sustainability
The notion of sustainability is generally accepted in
discussions about global environmental issues. It is now
creeping into the language of corporations, governments,
non-profit organizations and social policy discussion.2 But
it has not yet been accepted as “normal” in those domains,
nor is it seen as an overarching goal for a society. Yet
sustainability is in many ways the core idea that should
guide all decision making. Choices that do not compromise
the ability of future generations to meet their needs are
choices that meet multiple bottom lines – social, political,
economic, cultural as well as environmental.
In this message, I want to extend the idea into other
domains – communities and cities, health care and an
ageing society – all three are key drivers of well-being
and are on the CPRN agenda.

“Congratulations to you and CPRN for the ongoing
research and support you provide to Canadians and
policymakers in an effort to assist them in finding
solutions to key public issues. You are contributing
significantly to policy development in this country.
Best wishes for your continued success.”
– Corporate CEO

social, political and cultural issues. They are experiencing
severe shortages of affordable housing, growing poverty,
and a higher degree of concentration of poverty in specific
neighbourhoods among young and working age people,
especially visible minorities. Cities are also becoming less
liveable for a broad cross-section of the middle class due
to long, congested commutes, an intensification of work,
stagnating purchasing power and limits on access to
public services. Meanwhile, wealth is still being created
and incomes in the best neighbourhoods are rising at
a robust rate.

The sustainability challenge hits us most directly in the
communities where we live. To support themselves and
their families, adult Canadians need access to a job that
enables them to pay for food, shelter, physical safety,
transport, education, clean air and water, and all the
activities that are part of a healthy daily life. That seems
pretty basic, does it not?

This polarization of both incomes and neighbourhoods
destroys empathy. More and more, people are working
and living in separate spaces and have no occasion to
meet in a shared space where they can see the effects of
this yawning economic and social gap. Yet there is limited
capacity on the part of federal, provincial and municipal
governments to make the concerted effort required to
respond effectively – to help narrow the gaps, create
the public spaces and meeting places, and make the
communities more liveable. And markets do not solve
this kind of problem on their own.

But Canadian communities, especially the larger cities,
are hitting the limits of their capacity on environmental,

It remains for citizens to take action themselves.
Fortunately, some of them do. Neil Bradford reported,

Communities and Cities
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based on 13 case studies, that the single most important
ingredient for community mobilization is a local
champion – someone who is seized with an issue and
determined to make change. Without exception, it is
individuals in cities as diverse as Kelowna, Saskatoon,
Waterloo, the Beauce region of Quebec, and Halifax,
who have built coalitions of local citizens and mobilized
government agencies to create change.

This is the third time in four years that the federal
government has committed billions of extra dollars.
For the most part, it has disappeared into the health
care system without apparent improvements in the care
received by patients. Waiting lists are still too long for
many services, hospitals are short of beds, surgeries are
cancelled, people wait months for a diagnosis and
others cannot find a doctor.

The results have been new birth – new industries, new
community leaders, new quality of life. Problems are
being solved because these local champions nurture a
civic culture of creativity – to do things differently
and better.

When our Health Network convened a conference on
wait times on behalf of four national health associations,
Cathy Fooks found that waiting lists for specific services
are now being managed much better in sites from Halifax
to Edmonton. How did it happen? A local champion
(almost always a physician) decided to take ownership
of the issue. He or she rallied all the local people and
institutions with responsibility for patient care and
together they designed a way to manage the patient
flow from beginning to end. They radically reduced
wait times for services treating illnesses as severe as heart
attacks and for chronic care diseases such as diabetes,
often at no additional cost.3

What Bradford finds in these communities is
connectedness – people working together from all
parts of the community. Together, they connect their
issues to outside partners, including governments.
A recent but important new example is the Toronto
City Summit, which has, among other things, formed
committees to support the integration of new immigrants
into the labour market and to study income security
policy reform – not the focus we can always expect
from business leaders.

2005 – CPRN 10th Anniversary
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Sustainable communities and cities have to begin with
a single project. But the core of sustainability is the
continuous renewal Jane Jacobs describes in many of
her books. Her most recent one, Dark Age Ahead, is a
call to arms for more champions and more responsive
governments. It is also a warning not to take democracy
for granted.

Health Care
As I write this, the September First Ministers Meeting on
Health Care has just concluded with a massive transfer
of revenues from the federal to the provincial governments.

So there is strong evidence that Canada’s health care
systems can become sustainable, if the front-line leaders
take charge. First Ministers obviously have to provide
stable and predictable financing, but the people who
make the system work are local champions capable of
influencing the behaviour of others.

Ageing Society
International studies acknowledge that Canada’s system
of mixed public and private pensions and income security
for the elderly prepares us well for the rapid ageing that
will take place over the next 20 years. We have taken care
of the economic security of the ageing baby boomers.
What is less clear is how we plan to provide the services
to support them, and how we plan to balance the needs

of the elderly with those of the working age population
who will be providing the services and paying their taxes.
What is missing is a commitment to a “society for all ages.”
This is a society that ensures that all ages are respected,
accepted, and able to fully participate. It balances the
needs of all generations from birth to death. Choices are
made that recognize the interdependence of generations.
Independence will always be our goal – we foster it in our
children and support it in the elderly as long as possible.
But interdependence is unavoidable. We see and experience
this interdependence as individuals. As individuals, our
lives are interwoven with those of other generations.4
Yet, in our daily lives, we can lose sight of this interdependence. When the retired population vote against
a new hockey rink to avoid higher local taxes, they
are denying access to that rink to all the children and
working age people in the community. Elderly people
vote, and children do not. Think about that.
Public policy has often failed on this front. The institution
of health insurance and public pensions for low and
modest income Canadians in the 1960s was a landmark
event in our development as a civilized society. They
acknowledged that in a more urban and industrialized
society, the state has to share in some of the risks in life.
The trouble is that Canada failed to create the other
essential national systems of caregiving for the children
and dependent adults.
For example, in the 1960s the assumption was made that
families (mainly women) would do the caregiving for both
children and elders. Nowadays, 70 percent of mothers
with young children are in the workforce, most of them
full time. And with smaller families, many elders are
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stranded, living some distance away from their adult
children. These are the new social risks.5
Furthermore, income support for the working age
population is so tangled in the regulations of Employment
Insurance, social assistance and disability programs that,
in Toronto, only 38 percent of the working age population
has access to Employment Insurance.

Sharing the Risks
These are huge gaps in the Canadian systems for sharing
risk. They undermine our economic future, and make
it less and less likely that the elderly baby boomers will
be able to access the kind of supports they will need,
beyond the health care system, when their independence
begins to diminish. These gaps will create unsustainable
pressures on families and individual citizens in the next
couple of decades. Inevitably that will spill over into
pressure on governments and on employers.

Preventive action today would include a whole spectrum
of innovative policies: to build caregiving into our social
infrastructure; to foster gradual retirement plans so
working people can balance their work and family
commitments; to ensure that every child gets the best
start in life and the best possible education; to make our
cities and communities more liveable and adaptable; to
give all young Aboriginals the opportunity to participate
fully as citizens, workers and voters; and to speed up the
innovation in health care delivery. Taken together, they
would contribute enormously to the sustainability of
Canadian society.
These are all simmering issues; there is no crisis to
provoke a First Ministers Meeting. There is no impetus
to build the necessary partnership between federal,
provincial, municipal and Aboriginal leaders, and to
mobilize the strengths of the private sector and social
actors. Yet time is passing quickly.
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Senior Management, from left to right, back row: Ron Saunders,
Tom McIntosh, Neil Leslie, Cynthia Williams and Peter Puxley.
Front row: Al MacKay, Judith Maxwell, David Hay
and Mary Pat MacKinnon.

Ottawa Staff.

This procrastination is the essence of unsustainability.
It allows societies to make choices that do compromise
the ability of future generations to meet their needs. In
sum, sometimes our greatest collective sins are sins of
omission – the failure to act.
If you look at the programs and plans of the four Networks
in the coming pages, you will see that our job at CPRN
is to provide fresh ideas to help Canadians address these
simmering issues and build a sustainable society. Our
job is to see the connections across the many branches
of government, disciplines of the university, and places
of community action. We look beyond the immediate
horizon, to help Canadians learn about and work through
the big challenges. Like them, we wish to build a good
society in a world of increasing resource constraints,
intense competition, and growing interdependence
across borders.

Individuals can influence the outcome. But public and
private institutions have to respond to their call for
action. Our collective will is needed in every case.
Public policy has to respond.
Sustainability is a core idea to guide our decisions in
every domain of our lives. It is the ethical challenge
of our times.
Notes
1 Two examples. One unintended consequence of the government
budget cuts of the early 1990s was a sustained increase in income
inequality (after taxes and transfers) from 1995 onward. In earlier
times, the decision to control oil prices after the first oil shock in
1973 led to a deterioration in Canada’s competitive position because
other countries adjusted their products and services more quickly
to the need to conserve energy.
2 You will find it, for example, in the Annual Report of Alcan
Aluminium Limited, in recent reports of the Auditor General for
Canada, and as the opening chapter in the report of the Romanow
Commission on the Future of Health Care in Canada.
3 Michael Rachlis has reported remarkable improvements in
efficiency and service across a wide range of specific services
delivered in specific places.
4 We also do our best to support our elders as well as our children
and grand-children. But the interdependence goes beyond family
ties. When an elderly person needs health or personal services,
she will often need to turn to a much younger nurse, homemaker,
taxi driver, etc. She, as much as any of us, has a need for safe streets,
well-trained professionals, supportive community services, access
to recreation, and so on.
5 At the beginning of the 21st century, we still do not have a systematic
approach to child care (outside Quebec) or to elder care. Jane
Jenson has documented the new social risks in two publications.
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WHY SUSTAINABILITY?
“Sustainability” has been a familiar term in the environmental movement for years. Simply put, it describes social
organization and a level and pattern of consumption today
that can be continued indefinitely without penalizing, or
reducing the choices of, future generations.
Our use of the term “sustainability” has broadened as
the realities of globalization have made their presence felt
in all facets of our daily lives. Today, Canadians embrace
many aspects of our new relationship with the world
outside Canada. But we are also concerned that what
is most important to us and our quality of life here at
home may be vulnerable if we take no steps to sustain
it. This is true whether we are thinking of public health
care, the quality of life in our increasingly diverse cities,
or the capacity of our voluntary sector to provide the
goods and services we expect of it.
Our greatest challenge, as the world changes around us,
is to adapt to those changes in ways that take advantage
of the new opportunities for enriching our lives,
while sustaining those features we hold dearest. This
10th Anniversary Annual Report demonstrates that
sustainability, as a major motivating idea, permeates
CPRN’s research and activities.
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW
As we prepare to celebrate CPRN’s 10th birthday,
we do so with a considerable sense of satisfaction;
satisfaction over our accomplishments, our impact
and, yes, our longevity.
In the world of non-profit enterprise, 10 years is a
creditable record. For we also share, along with hundreds
of other non-profit organizations, an awareness of the
tenuousness of our existence. As our own research has
shown (see Ron Saunders, Passion and Commitment Under
Stress: Human Resource Issues in Canada’s Non-profit Sector –
A Synthesis Report, CPRN, 2003), despite the vital and
significant contribution of the non-profit sector to the
economy and well-being of Canadians, inadequate attention
has been paid to its sustainability. Insecure funding, lack
of opportunities for training and career advancement, and
uncompetitive compensation, among other conditions,
threaten to overwhelm the impulse to public service that
motivates the sector’s workforce. As workers for a non-profit
organization, it is hard not to think of these realities as
one of this country’s important sustainability challenges.

2005 – CPRN 10th Anniversary
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In the pages that follow, you will see that much of
our research is focused on sustainability of institutions,
whether it is the family, the workplace, the health care
system, our democratic process or the non-profit sector.
And, of course, doing that work well is the best way to
ensure the sustainability of our own organization.

Al MacKay, Vice-President, Operations

Supporting Our Research
Sustainability has been the driver for considerable work
in the administrative area of CPRN over the past year.
With our accounting, operational and human resources
systems now functioning smoothly, considerable effort
has been devoted to looking at how the CPRN business
model can be refined and improved. Even though
CPRN is a not-for-profit organization, efficient financial
performance is vital to ensure long-term viability, and
to demonstrate to our funders, both public and private,
that we are making the best use of contributions they
make in support of our research projects.

“I want to complement you on the quality of
your Web site. I feel yours stands out for its clean,
uncluttered, yet attractive look, its readily accessible
wealth of useful content and the ease with which it
is navigated. Congratulations on an outstanding job!”
– Non-profit Worker

CPRN Events and Publications for the period July 2003-04
July 04, 2003
NetworkNews, Number 22

July 11, 2003
Portrait of Canadian Fundraising Professionals – Results of the
AFP/CPRN Survey of Fundraisers 2002, Kathryn McMullen

Recent changes in federal government approaches to
funding research make it imperative that CPRN find a
funding model that will allow us to maintain the high
quality of research for which we are known, as well as
recover the overhead costs required to freely disseminate
our research findings and maintain the business infrastructure required of a mature and professional organization.

Communicating Our Work
Reaching the widest possible audience for our work has
always been a priority at CPRN. We have done our best
to seek adequate resources to ensure free public access to
our publications. Early in our history, we understood
that the primary vehicle for disseminating research results
would be the Web. CPRN has been a sector leader in
that regard ever since.

Peter Puxley, Director, Public Affairs

communication. This year we have created two new
sub-sites for the Family Network – Kids Canada and
Diversity Gateway – each with a unique architecture,
but integrated with our main site. In the coming year,
we hope to experiment with public discussion forums,
visitor feedback and surveys. We are also hoping to
exploit our experience to assist in the development of
community-specific Web sites.

Visits and Downloads - CPRN Web Site 1999-2004
800
700
600
(000s)

The work on our business model intersects with the major
external evaluation of CPRN conducted this past year
by Social Development Canada. The evaluation flows
from the $9 million grant CPRN received from the
federal government in 1999. Its purpose is to assess the
value-added contribution of CPRN activities in informing
public policymaking, the continuing appropriateness of
the grant as a funding mechanism, and the extent to which
CPRN has been successful in diversifying its funding
sources and moving toward financial independence.
Fieldwork for the evaluation began in the early Spring
and continued until mid-summer. It included an online
survey, in which more than 800 CPRN stakeholders
participated, as well as case studies and expert interviews.
The report is expected in Fall 2004.

500

Visits
Downloads

400
300
200
100
1999-2000

The launch of our new Web site last year has opened up
the possibility of further experimentation with Internet

July 18, 2003
A Report on the Workshop on Evaluation of Public
Involvement Activities, Sandra Zagon

2000-2001

2001-2002

2002-2003

2003-2004

Year
(As of August 31, 2004)

September 2, 2003
The Great Social Transformation: Implications for the Social
Role of Government in Ontario, Judith Maxwell
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In the past year, CPRN published 35 research papers, as
well as numerous presentations, commentaries and opinion
pieces. The response has been gratifying, as visitor
levels remain between 500,000 and 600,000 annually.
Downloads of our publications set new records with
visitors taking away almost 700,000 copies, a healthy
10 percent increase over last year. (All data refer to the
period July 1, 2003, to June 30, 2004.) We now have
73 publications registering 5,000 downloads or more
since their release, a very impressive achievement!
These numbers cap an extraordinary performance since
CPRN first began recording Web statistics. Visitors to
our Web site have increased between five and sixfold
in the past five years, while downloads of our research
documents have increased an incredible seven times. We
take this as a sign of the relevance and reach of our work.

Another important avenue for disseminating our research
is through public and private presentations by CPRN’s
President, directors and staff in different venues across
the country and abroad. In all, they made more than
150 such appearances in 2003-04.

and presentations, as well as other news of CPRN and its
people. Our quarterly newsletter, NetworkNews, reaches
thousands more readers with its summaries of research,
reports, interviews, news of CPRN activities and regular
President’s Commentary. Production and design are
completely in-house and a tribute to our growing skills
on that front. The Family Network’s monthly electronic
research update, Urban Nexus, which showcases policy
research, news and events about cities and communities,
has a growing audience, now approaching 1,600
subscribers. Finally, our link with policy analysts in
provincial capitals across the country, Policy Direct,
keeps its loyal following.

CPRN also maintains contact with our community of
stakeholders through a variety of periodical publications,
again, mostly electronic. Our weekly electronic newsletter,
e-network, reaches some 4,500 direct subscribers and
hundreds of others via several list-serves. Subscribers
come from all across Canada and from countries around
the globe. They receive updates on our latest publications

Subscribers to our various periodicals and visitors to
our Web site are perhaps our most important audiences.
However, we also make an effort to reach a wider public
with a consistent appeal to mass media journalists,
columnists, editors and producers, encouraging them
to examine CPRN’s work, its relevance to the issues of
the day, and its potential impact on Canadians.

September 10, 2003
Roundtable on Public Involvement – Briefing on the
Conference on Dialogue and Deliberation

September 12, 2003
What Do Canadians Want in North America?: Coming of Age in Canada,
Judith Maxwell

Our special Web site on the state of Canadian workplaces
(www.jobquality.ca) also set a new record of more than
100,000 visitors annually, up more than 15 percent over
the previous year.

2005 – CPRN 10th Anniversary
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Communications Team, from left to right, back row: Peter Puxley
and Paul Macneil. Front row: Kevin Timms and Gisèle Lacelle.

Top Downloads from the CPRN Web site, by Network – November 2000 – June 2004
Efficiency, Annual Report 2001-2002

Toward a Common Citizenship: Canada’s Social and Economic Choices, Judith Maxwell
Transformation, Annual Report 1999-2000

Corporate

Nurses and Their Workplaces: The Policy Drivers Matter, presentation by Judith Maxwell

Public Policy for Cities: The Role of the Federal Government, presentation by Judith Maxwell
Smart Social Policy – “Making Work Pay”, Judith Maxwell
Urgent Need, Serious Opportunity: Towards a New Social Model for Canada’s Aboriginal Peoples, Frances Abele

What’s Fair? Ethical Decision-making in an Aging Society, Nuala Kenny

Family

Housing Affordability: A Children’s Issue, Merrill Cooper
How Families Cope and Why Policymakers Need to Know, papers by David Cheal,
Frances Woolley and Meg Luxton

Coordinating Interdependence: Governance and Social Policy Redesign in Britain,
the European Union and Canada, Denis Saint-Martin
Why Cities Matter: Policy Research Perspective for Canada, Neil Bradford
Towards a New Perspective on Health Policy, Sholom Glouberman
Rhetoric, Fallacy or Dream? Examining the Accountability of Canadian Health Care to Citizens,
Cathy Fooks and Lisa Maslove

Engaging Citizens: One Route to Health Care Accountability, Julia Abelson and François-Pierre Gauvin
Knowledge Transfer in Practice, presentation by Cathy Fooks
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Health

Health Human Resource Planning in Canada: Physician and Nursing Work Force Issues,
Cathy Fooks, Katya Duvalko, Patricia Baranek, Lise Lamothe and Kent V. Rondeau

The Taming of the Queue: Wait Time Measurement, Monitoring and Management – Colloquium Report,
Cathy Fooks
Making the Lalonde Report, Lindsey McKay

Public Dialogue and Other Tools for Citizen Engagement, presentation by Mary Pat MacKinnon
Asking Citizens What Matters for Quality of Life in Canada – A Rural Lens,
Rebecca Marland and Joseph Michalski
Quality of Life in Canada: A Citizens’ Report Card, CPRN
“Trust and Balance” – Citizens’ Dialogue on the Ontario Budget Strategy 2004-2008,
Judith Nolté, Judith Maxwell and Mary Pat MacKinnon

Public Involvement

Quality of Life in Canada: A Citizens’ Report Card – Background Report, Joseph Michalski
Indicators of Quality of Life in Canada: A Citizens’ Prototype – Summary of Results of Public
Dialogue Sessions and Prototype of National Indicators, CPRN

Work-Life Balance in the New Millennium: Where Are We? Where Do We Need to Go?
Linda Duxbury and Chris Higgins

Healthy Workplace Strategies: Creating Change and Achieving Results, Graham Lowe
Quality of Work – Quality of Life, presentation by Graham Lowe

Work

Is the Tide About to Turn on Workplace Stress?, presentation by Graham Lowe

Passion and Commitment Under Stress: Human Resource Issues in Canada’s
Non-profit Sector – A Synthesis Report, Ron Saunders
Changing Government Workplaces, Anil Verma and Zsuzsanna Lonti
5,000
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collaborators in a common project and are aware of how
much we owe them. After 10 years, CPRN’s friends are
countless but essential to our success. Building on these
relationships in our future work is a continuing goal.

Saying Hello and Goodbye
As CPRN’s research agenda expands and shifts, it is
inevitable that our staff changes to adapt to our new
goals. It is a think-tank reality, full of sad departures and
exciting new relationships. 2003-2004 was no exception.
From left to right, back row: Lee Macpherson, Denise Séguin,
Sue Horsley, Iouliia Evitchenko, Paul Macneil, Kevin Timms and
Margaret Miedema. Front row: Gisèle Lacelle, Cheri Stewart
and Pauline Bourque.

This has been a very good year for CPRN’s presence in
the media. CPRN’s research, researchers, directors and
President appeared on radio, television and in print on
more than 500 occasions, in news reports, interviews,
features, columns, editorials, commentaries and panel
discussions, and in locations from coast to coast, in
small towns and major centres. Combined, these
outlets represent a cumulative audience in the range
of 40,000,000 readers, viewers and listeners.
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Our Board of Directors says farewell and thanks to
long-term Board Members Peter Meekison, who now
becomes Board Associate, and to Cynthia Williams,
who has joined CPRN as Senior Research Fellow. The
Board welcomes Tony Dean, Secretary of the Cabinet,
Government of Ontario, and as observers, Peter Hicks,
Assistant Deputy Minister, Social Development Canada,
and Andrew Treusch, Assistant Deputy Minister, Human
Resources and Skills Development Canada.

CPRN has a well-deserved reputation for fostering debate
and an open exchange of views. We provide a “neutral
space” where stakeholders, researchers, funders, sponsors,
and other interested Canadians feel comfortable sharing
their experiences and visions. During 2003-04, more than
1,050 individuals, representing governments, the private
and voluntary sectors, the academic community and the
Canadian public, took part in our roundtables, workshops,
dialogues and symposia. We see these participants as

In the research Networks, David Hay becomes Director
of the Family Network, relieving Jane Jenson, who
returns to the Université de Montréal but remains a
CPRN Research Associate. Neil Bradford is appointed
Research Fellow for Cities and Communities and Cynthia
Williams joins the Family Network as a Senior Research
Fellow, as part of a two-year assignment through the
Interchange Canada program. Tom McIntosh takes over
the reins of the Health Network from Cathy Fooks, who
leaves to become the first Executive Director of the new
Canada Health Council. Finally, Neil Leslie steps into
the job of Director of Development, taking over from
Pamela Miles.

September 19, 2003
Roundtable on Human Resource Issues in the Non-profit Sector

October 14, 2003
NetworkNews, Number 23

Administrative Staff:
Operations:
Al MacKay, Vice-President
Development:
Neil Leslie, Director
Margaret Miedema, Fundraising Coordinator
Public Affairs:
Peter Puxley, Director
Gisèle Lacelle, Coordinator,
Publications and Conference Services
President’s Office:
Denise Séguin, Executive Assistant to the President
Pauline Bourque, Administrative Assistant
to the President and Vice-President
Finance and Administration:
Iouliia Evitchenko, Financial Controller
Lee Macpherson, Financial Assistant
Cheri Stewart, Human Resources Manager
Sue Horsley, Human Resources Assistant
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Informatics:
Paul Macneil, Systems Administrator
Kevin Timms, Knowledge Architect

“It’s been a while since I was on your Web site.
Your new look is fantastic! What a HUGE
improvement – looks great and is very easy to use.
You should be proud of it.”
– OECD Consultant

October 17, 2003
Citizens’ Dialogue Experience: Follow-up Survey Results,
Nandini Saxena

October 31, 2003
A Social Architecture for Canada’s 21st Century – Roundtable Number 1

THE FRESH IDEAS CAMPAIGN –
SUSTAINING CPRN’S WORK
CPRN launched its Fresh Ideas Campaign in June 2002,
with the ambitious goal of raising $4 million to ensure
it can continue to respond to the emerging policy issues
facing Canada. Funds raised by the Campaign will
support high quality, independent research and enhance
CPRN’s contribution to the competition of ideas in
Canada, a hallmark of a healthy democracy.
The Fresh Ideas Campaign hit a major milestone this year,
ending the year with over $3.5 million in commitments to
CPRN projects and priorities. This is a clear demonstration
that CPRN’s policy research continues to be relevant and
timely. These funds provide CPRN with the flexibility
to get ahead of pressing policy issues – those that are
affecting our lives as students, family members, voters,
employees, volunteers, patients, caregivers of children,
the vulnerable and elderly.
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Let us be clear. Raising this level of funding for CPRN is
only accomplished with the help of an excellent network
of friends and colleagues across the country.
We made new friends in Alberta and British Columbia
this year. Jim Dinning, a CPRN Board member and
Campaign Committee member, is CPRN’s ambassador
in Alberta. Working with John and Maggie Mitchell,
and Ann McCaig, Judith Maxwell, CPRN’s president,
was given excellent opportunities to discuss many of the

November 3, 2003
CIHR Policy Roundtable, “Globalization, Gender and Health:
The Research-to-Policy Interface” – Setting the Policy Agenda

Neil Leslie, Director, Development
economic and social policy issues that are of concern to
Albertans and the provincial government. The results
of that effort include many gifts from individuals,
along with contributions from Maclab Enterprises
and Shaw Communications.
In Vancouver, Peter Bentley, Chair of Canfor Corporation,
and Janet Austin, President and CEO of the YWCA of
Vancouver, hosted events and introduced Judith Maxwell
to key individuals who appreciate the role a think-tank
like CPRN can play in Canada.
Visits like these present an opportunity to demonstrate
that CPRN is committed to addressing issues of concern
to all regions of the country and will continue to have a
strong presence in Western Canada.

November 7, 2003
Intergenerational Equity: Seeking Principles for Ethical
Decision-making in an Aging Society – Roundtable

One of the Campaign’s great strengths has been the
endorsement of CPRN’s mission by the members of
the Board of Directors, the Campaign Committee and
other friends. The Margaret and Wallace McCain Family
Foundation has also made a financial commitment to
the Campaign on behalf of our newest board member,
Margaret McCain.

CPRN Friends – Vancouver. From left to right: George Hungerford,
Partner, Fasken Martineau, Jane Hungerford, Janet Austin, CEO,
YWCA of Vancouver, Penny Ballem, Deputy Minister, Health
Planning and Service, Government of British Columbia,
Eva Kwok, Chair and CEO, Amara International Investment Corp.,
Judith Maxwell, President of CPRN, and Kyle Mitchell, Partner,
Ray & Berndtson / Tanton Mitchell.

Toronto and Montreal were the source of many new
financial contributions to the Campaign from individuals
and organizations. Canada’s financial institutions have
been particularly generous, with commitments confirmed
from BMO Financial Group, CIBC, RBC Financial
Group, Scotiabank and TD Bank Financial Group.
Together, they are donating $235,000 in new funds
to projects relating to youth, cities and communities,
diversity, and to the President’s Innovation Fund (PIF).
The PIF also received a five-year pledge of support from
the SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. Home Depot Canada
has made a five-year commitment to several research
projects, and the R. Howard Webster Foundation is
supporting our “vulnerable workers” research series, as
is the Canadian Labour Congress. Ontario Municipal
Employees Retirement System is CPRN’s first “member”
– a program that will be expanded to accommodate
other organizations and corporations who prefer to
contribute to CPRN’s research in this fashion.

November 14, 2003
Defining Vulnerability in the Labour Market, Ron Saunders

Under the leadership of Courtney Pratt, President and
CEO of Stelco Inc. and Chair of the Campaign, we
commissioned an interim evaluation to ensure the
Campaign is on the right track. Joan Blight of Strategic
Philanthropy led the process and made several important
recommendations. Overall, the Campaign is considered
a great success to date. Our plan is to move ahead with
further integration of the development program with the
fundraising activities of the Networks at CPRN. This
will incorporate both non-specific and targeted private
sector funds into the overall campaign effort.
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“I read your Annual Report with pleasure. It contains
very interesting news and data.”
– Bank President

“I was delighted to receive the CPRN 2003
Annual Report. The work of CPRN is so important
to all of us.”
– Board of Trade Member

November 26, 2003
Articulation travail-famille : Le contre-exemple des pays dits “libéreaux”?,
Caroline Beauvais, Pascale Dufour

We were sad to see Pamela Miles, who led the Campaign
from its onset, step down to pursue her calling, this time
with the Ottawa Hospital Foundation. She set a very high
standard, widening CPRN’s network of friends and
supporters, tirelessly travelling the country and working
the phones. We will miss her enthusiastic energy. She has,
however, a talented successor in Neil Leslie, who joins
CPRN with over 25 years experience in fundraising.
Neil Leslie also recently received the distinction of being
named Outstanding Fundraising Executive by Ottawa’s
Association of Fundraising Professionals.

All members of CPRN’s Board of Directors are
actively involved with the Campaign, with
special acknowledgment due to the Campaign
Committee members:

Excellent public policy, if implemented properly, can have
a tremendous positive impact on thousands, if not millions,
of Canadian lives. It is this thought that underpins our
appeal, while it also inspires CPRN’s friends to contribute
so generously to the Fresh Ideas Campaign.
“We try to support things that help define the highest
standards in whatever field it is. I feel that CPRN
meets that ambition by a wide margin… You clearly
attempt to do careful, objectively based work that
reports/comments on issues as you find them…
So our gift was to support this important work
you do for Canada. Bravo for you all.”
– Business School Dean and Donor

Purdy Crawford, Honourary Chair
Courtney Pratt, Chair
Jalynn Bennett
Jim Dinning
Arthur Kroeger
Judith Maxwell
Hon. Margaret Norrie McCain
Mary Mogford
Michèle Thibodeau-DeGuire
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December 5, 2003
Coping with Change: Human Resource Management in Canada’s
Non-profit Sector, Kathryn McMullen, Richard Brisbois

December 19, 2003
How Canada Stacks Up: The Quality of Work – An International
Perspective, Richard Brisbois

Fresh Ideas Campaign
Donors and Project Sponsors
Contributions to the Fresh Ideas Campaign surpassed the
$3.5 million mark as of June 30, 2004, thanks to many
friends, the staff of CPRN and the leadership of CPRN’s
Board of Directors and Campaign Committee. This
support is enabling CPRN to continue to be a leader
in policy research in Canada, helping make Canada a
more just, prosperous and caring society.
Benefactor ($250,000 - $1,000,000)
BCE Inc.
Nuclear Waste Management Organization
Patron ($100,000 - $249,999)
Atkinson Charitable Foundation
Bell Canada
Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation
Canadian Health Services Research Foundation
CIBC
The Muttart Foundation
Power Corporation of Canada
Partner ($25,000 - $99,999)
Aga Khan Foundation
Association of Fundraising Professionals
Canadian Cancer Society
The Change Foundation
COGECO Inc.
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario
Home Depot Canada
The Hospital for Sick Children Foundation
Laidlaw Foundation
The Learning Partnership
National Voluntary Organizations
Ontario Trillium Foundation

January 2, 2004
Annual Report 2002-2003 – Engaging

RBC Foundation
R. Howard Webster Foundation
Scotiabank
TD Bank Financial Group
Anonymous Donors
Associate ($5,000- $24,999)
The Bertelsmann Foundation
J.P. Bickell Foundation
BMO Financial Group
Business Development Bank of Canada
Canadian Institute of Planners
Canadian Labour Congress
Canadian Medical Association
Purdy Crawford
Ekos Research Associates Inc.
John R. Evans
Frosst Health Care Foundation
Holding O.C.B. Inc.
John McArthur
The J. W. McConnell Family Foundation
Pamela J. Miles
The Neptis Foundation
Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System
SNC-Lavalin Group Inc.
Syncrude Canada Ltd.
Toronto Hydro
Supporter ($1,000 - $4,999)
Judy Cosco
Chinook Winds Consulting
C. William Daniel
Demos Analytic Group Inc.
John W. Dobson
GPI Atlantic
Le Groupe Canam Manac Inc.
The Honourable Henry N.R. Jackman

January 2, 2004
NetworkNews, Number 24
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Jane Jenson
Brian M. Levitt
Maclab Enterprises
Nestlé Canada Inc.
Margaret and T. Edward Newell
Peter J. Nicholson
Sandra A. and Joseph L. Rotman
Brad and Tanya Zumwalt
Anonymous Donors
Contributor ($100 - $999)
Many friends of CPRN have made gifts at the
Contributor level.

Board of Directors and Board Associates
CPRN acknowledges the leadership of its Board of
Directors and Board Associates who together have
contributed over $156,000 to the Campaign.
Jalynn H. Bennett
Gordon Betcherman
Robert D. Brown
Jim Dinning and Evelyn Main
Robert Greenhill
Arthur Kroeger
Anthony and Judith Maxwell
Margaret and Wallace McCain Family Foundation
J. Peter Meekison
Mary Mogford
Courtney Pratt
Allan and Leslie Shaw
Michèle Thibodeau-DeGuire
Edward Waitzer and Smadar Peretz
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January 7, 2004
CPRN/LCC Meeting on Vulnerable Workers

January 9, 2004
Passion and Commitment Under Stress: Human Resource
Issues in Canada’s Non-profit Sector, Ron Saunders

AWARDS
Judith Maxwell Receives Award by the
Canadian Institute of Planners
CPRN’s President received the Plan Canada Article of
the Year 2004 award for her article entitled “Keynote
address: Sustainable Cities.”
This article was chosen for the large extent to which it
serves the needs and interests of Plan Canada readers.
Also taken into consideration was the fine writing style,
clarity, depth of reporting, insight, imagination and
analysis illustrated in Judith Maxwell’s article. She
demonstrated leadership and innovation.

CPRN Board Members Honoured
Allan Shaw is the 2004 recipient of the Public Policy
Forum’s Testimonial Award at the 17th Annual
Testimonial Dinner in April. The dinner honours
“outstanding Canadians... who, while distinguishing
themselves in various walks of professional life, have
left an indelible mark on the calibre of public policy
and public management.”

Allan Shaw
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
The Shaw Group Limited

Courtney Pratt
President and CEO, Stelco Inc.

Graham Lowe Wins Prestigious Award
Graham Lowe, former Director of CPRN’s Work
Network and a CPRN Research Associate, is this year’s
winner of the Canadian Workplace Wellness Pioneer
Award. He received the award at the annual Health,
Work and Wellness Conference in Vancouver.
The Award is given to an accomplished professional
from the public or private sector in recognition of their
significant achievements and contributions to the field
of organizational health.

Courtney Pratt, President and CEO of Stelco Inc.,
was the Honouree at the Learning Partnership’s Annual
Tribute Dinner in May. The Learning Partnership is a
non-profit organization dedicated to bringing together
business, education, government, labour, policymakers
and the community to develop partnerships that
strengthen public education in Canada.

January 16, 2004
Assessing the Public Interest in the 21st Century: A Framework,
Judith Maxwell, Leslie A. Pal

January 23, 2004
Catching Up to Reality: Building the Case for a New Social Model,
Jane Jenson
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WORK NETWORK
The Work Network seeks to create knowledge and lead
public debate on labour market and workplace issues
important to the well-being of Canadians. A key objective
of our work is to uncover policy options that improve the
performance of our labour markets and workplaces over
the long term. To this end, we seek to identify policies
that broaden access for Canadians to jobs that provide
decent pay, decent working conditions, opportunities for
skill development and income security, while supporting
the productivity of our workplaces, the competitiveness
of our industries, and the growth of our economy. In
short, policies that sustain a vibrant economy and an
inclusive society.
The objective of “sustainability” runs through many of
our 2003-04 research activities. Our research is divided
into three themes: Job Quality, Vulnerability in Labour
Markets and The Learning and Work Nexus.
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Job Quality
Graham Lowe and Grant Schellenberg, both past
directors of the Work Network, pioneered CPRN’s
research on job quality and published a path-breaking
study, What’s a Good Job: The Importance of Employment
Relationships, in 2001. The Network continues to be
active in this area.
High quality jobs mean lower turnover and absenteeism
and improved productivity performance. Job quality may
also motivate older workers to stay in the labour market
– an issue explored in CPRN research on the ageing

January 23, 2004
The Canadian Social Model: The Logics of Policy Development,
Gerard Boychuk

Ron Saunders, Director
workforce. Indeed, the quality of its jobs affects Canada’s
competitiveness. Richard Brisbois’ study, How Canada
Stacks Up: The Quality of Work – An International
Perspective, released in December 2003, compares
workplaces in Canada, the United States and 15 member
nations of the European Union, in terms of five dimensions
of job quality: work-life balance; health and well-being;
skills development; career and employment security; and
overall satisfaction with working conditions. This is the
first effort to compare the quality of employment in
Canada with that in other countries.
“I wanted to express my appreciation for CPRN
taking on work around the issue of vulnerable
workers. It’s one thing for those activists like me
to talk about labour market regulation and low paid
jobs. It’s quite another for a group like CPRN with
mainstream credibility to say it. It opens up the
debate in an entirely different way.”
– University Teacher

January 23, 2004
Social Protection Reforms in Europe: Strategies for a New Social Model,
Bruno Palier

CPRN’s Jobquality Web site – www.jobquality.ca – has
welcomed over 200,000 visitors in its 21/ 2 -year life. The
site contains easy to understand charts, tables and analyses
of the quality of Canadian workplaces. It provides
information about issues like wages and benefits, trust
and commitment, employee participation, skill use and
development, and work-life balance. There are also
visitor surveys on job quality concerns and interviews
with labour market and human resource experts.

suggests measures to relieve some of the pressure. A
Research Highlights version of this report, designed
for members of non-profit boards of directors, was also
published in January 2004.

Data from How Canada Stacks Up were added to the
Jobquality Web site in December 2003. New indicators
on gender and job quality were added in April 2004.
These indicators are based on data drawn from the 2003
CPRN research paper, Men’s and Women’s Quality of
Work in the New Canadian Economy, by Karen Hughes,
Graham Lowe and Grant Schellenberg.

– Non-profit Consultant

Our continued work on the non-profit sector also falls
within the Job Quality theme. Drawing on evidence from
Statistics Canada’s Workplace and Employee Survey, the
Network has undertaken a comprehensive study of paid
employment in non-profit organizations. The first three
studies in this series, Mapping the Non-profit Sector, Job
Quality in Non-profit Organizations, and Skills and Training
in the Non-profit Sector, were published in 2002-03. Coping
with Change: Human Resource Management in Canada’s
Non-profit Sector, by Kathryn McMullen and Richard
Brisbois (December 2003), examines the impact of changes
in the external environment on both organization and
human resource policies of non-profits. The final report
in the series, Passion and Commitment Under Stress:
Human Resource Issues in Canada’s Non-profit Sector, by
Ron Saunders (January 2004), examines the forces that
threaten the sustainability of non-profit enterprise and

“I am very interested in the report on burnout
in charities… the report certainly captured the
issues… I wanted to tell you how much I hope
it stirs some action.”

Fundraising and fundraisers are vital to the sustainability
and effectiveness of the non-profit sector. To improve our
knowledge about the characteristics, working experiences
and views of fundraising professionals in Canada,
CPRN undertook a survey of professional fundraisers
in collaboration with the Association of Fundraising
Professionals, in 2002. Portrait of Canadian Fundraising
Professionals, by Kathryn McMullen, released in July
2003, provides the basis for addressing professional
issues and strengthening the non-profit sector’s ability
to sustain its services in the years to come.
Looking ahead, we plan to focus our research under the
Job Quality theme on the issue of generational differences
in job quality. CPRN plans to examine the extent to which
today’s younger and older workers differ in what they are
looking for in a job and analyse the implications of such
differences for strategies on recruitment, retention, career
development, and succession planning.

January 23, 2004
One Discourse, Three Dialects: Changing the Social Model in Australia,
the United Kingdom, and the United States, Roxanne Pawlick, Sharon Stroick

January 30, 2004
A Social Architecture for Canada’s 21st Century –
Roundtable Number 2
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CPRN’s first study in this series, Defining Vulnerability
in the Labour Market, by Ron Saunders (November 2003),
defines some of the dimensions of vulnerability in the
workforce, identifies a need for public policy responses
and action by employers, and points to areas for
further research.

From left to right, back row: Trish Adams, Patrice de Broucker,
Heather Fulsom. Front row: Richard Brisbois and Ron Saunders.

Vulnerability in Labour Markets
This research theme, launched a year ago, explores issues
related to workers who are “vulnerable” in that they have
difficulty obtaining work that provides decent pay and
working conditions that meet societal norms. Work on
this new theme proceeded in 2003-04.
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The goals of this research are:
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• to document who works for low pay, who does not
have access to basic employment rights and benefits,
and how employment standards are enforced;
• to identify policy options for government
policymakers and employers that improve vulnerable
workers’ access to work that provides adequate
income and basic employment rights and benefits;
• to raise the profile of issues regarding vulnerable
workers and help focus the debate on how to
respond to these issues; and

A forthcoming study by Richard Chaykowski of Queen’s
University and Guylaine Vallée of the Université de
Montréal examines how coverage of both legal employment
standards (e.g., minimum wages, vacation and public
holiday entitlements, overtime pay) and non-statutory
benefits (such as extended medical, dental, and disability
coverage, and access to a pension plan) has been affected
by the growth of non-standard work. It will also identify
policy implications. In partnership with the Institute of
Public Administration of Canada, we are also initiating
research into best practices in obtaining compliance with
statutory employment standards, since some workers
covered by these standards may not be in a position to
assert their rights.
We are working on two related papers on low-paid
workers. One provides a plain-language synthesis of recent
research on the characteristics of those who work for low
pay, and the extent to which people stay in low-paid jobs
for long periods. It is being prepared in collaboration with
researchers at Statistics Canada. Another will discuss
available policy instruments to raise the incomes of
low-paid workers, and review recent literature on the
effectiveness of these measures.

• to stimulate change in public policies and in
workplace practices.

February 2, 2004
Why So Much Opposition to Social Policy Change in Quebec?,
Denis Saint-Martin

February 6, 2004
Sustainable Cities, Judith Maxwell

“I’ve recently been introduced to the CPRN Web
site and am writing to thank you for your work.
The comprehensive nature of the reports available
on your site is very rare and much appreciated. I
wish you the best of luck in your future endeavours.”
– Non-profit Consultant

Finally, we will publish a synthesis report to summarize
the key findings of the series. The paper will identify the
most promising policy instruments for assisting vulnerable
workers and “sustaining” a labour market in which
workplaces are highly productive and competitive and
all workers have decent pay and conditions of work.

The Learning and Work Nexus
Today’s society and economy demand high levels of
knowledge and skills to live, learn, and earn in today’s
world. Substantial investments in human capital are
essential to sustain our national competitiveness and
personal well-being. Accordingly, the Work Network has
launched a new program of studies on the nexus between
learning and work. This encompasses the acquisition of
knowledge and skills; the transition from formal education
to the labour market; and the relationship of adult learning
activities to employer needs and individuals’ career aspirations. This new theme incorporates a previous Work
Network theme, “Developing Tomorrow’s Workforce.”
In February 2004, Ron Saunders presented an overview
of issues in this area to the Canadian Alliance of Education
and Training Organizations. The presentation examines
the strengths and weaknesses of Canada’s lifelong learning
“system,” highlighting the gaps a national learning institute
might help address.

February 27, 2004
Place Matters and Multi-level Governance: Perspectives
on a New Urban Policy Paradigm, Neil Bradford

Educational attainment is becoming increasingly important,
relative to other factors, in shaping young people’s life
chances. Graduating from high school is the essential
first step to the knowledge and skills needed to access
rewarding work in today’s economy. Knowing why people fail to complete high school and documenting their
experience will help to identify ways to make school
more attractive. To this end, Patrice de Broucker is working with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) on a study of labour market
outcomes for young adults with a low level of education.
Issues related to post-secondary education (PSE) are an
important part of the learning and work nexus. Just when
the demands of the knowledge economy make a postsecondary education essential, it is becoming more and
more expensive to get one. A Family Affair: The Impact
of Paying for College or University, by Fred Hemingway
and Kathryn McMullen (June 2004), commissioned by
the Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation, explores
what we know about how families finance post-secondary
education, how this affects their debt levels, and how
rising PSE costs affect participation patterns. In the
coming year, we will begin research on issues related
to the quality of our universities, to identify policies
that foster excellence in our universities without
compromising access.
For a wide variety of well-documented reasons – often
related to globalization, demographics and technological
change – the knowledge and skills required by a job in
today’s economy and labour market need to be updated
throughout life. This is as much a challenge for individuals
as it is for employers. How well do our training programs
serve the need for adult skill development, especially for
those with lower levels of formal education? In Spring 2004,

March 5, 2004
Healthy Workplace Strategies: Creating Change and Achieving Results,
Graham Lowe
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Ron Saunders and Richard Brisbois began case studies of
innovative workplace-based initiatives to improve the
skills of less-skilled employees in northern Alberta and
the Northwest Territories. This is part of an OECD fivecountry study. We also plan to launch a study of gaps in
Canada’s adult education and training “system” and to
identify changes needed to address these gaps.
Ron Saunders – Director, Work Network
Ron Saunders joined the Work Network as Director
in January 2003. He is formerly the Assistant Deputy
Minister, Policy, Communications, and Labour
Management Services Division at the Ontario Ministry
of Labour, where he had served in a number of policy
positions since 1986. Ron Saunders has a Ph.D. in
Economics from Harvard University, specializing in
industrial organization and international trade. He
taught for some years at the University of Toronto
before joining the Ontario Public Service and more
recently taught at the Queen’s University School of
Policy Studies (2001-02). He has worked on a wide
range of labour market issues and has served on
committees at the International Labour Organization
and in federal-provincial initiatives.
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Work Network Staff:
Patrice de Broucker, Ph.D., Senior Research Analyst
Richard Brisbois, M.B.A., Researcher
Heather Fulsom, Project Manager
Trish Adams, Administrative Assistant
(Work and Family Networks)
Work Network Research Associates:
Lynda Duxbury, Ph.D.
Karen Hughes, Ph.D.
Graham Lowe, Ph.D.
Kathryn McMullen (formerly Senior Research Analyst)
“You have impressed me! I have downloaded some
40 documents which I found on your Web site
and most of them have been of great interest.
Thanks a lot!!!”
– Swedish Academic

“I have just come across your Web site and think it’s
great. Very helpful information for me in my role as
a teacher, trainer and consultant.”
– Teacher/Consultant
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“Jobquality.ca is a great site – individuals’ opinion
on their work environment is important.”
– Canadian Visitor

March 19, 2004
Rhetoric, Fallacy or Dream? Examining the Accountability of
Canadian Health Care to Citizens, Cathy Fooks, Lisa Maslove

March 26, 2004
Roundtable on Progress on Implementing the
CNAC Recommendations

HEALTH NETWORK
Though we frequently hear the word sustainability used
in connection with our health care system, often it is not
clear what is meant by the term. Is it cost-containment?
Responsiveness to patient needs or to the needs of future
patients? Is it improving the quality of the services in
the current medicare basket or expanding the basket to
include new services, both low- and high-tech?
While these goals are not mutually exclusive, our health
care system is designed by trading them off against
each other. Ideally, these decisions are guided by the
values of Canadians, which is why we have emphasized
citizens in the Health Network’s primary research
theme – accountability.
In early 2004, the Health Network launched the Health
Care Accountability Papers with the publication of
Rhetoric, Fallacy or Dream? Examining the Accountability
of Canadian Health Care to Citizens, by Cathy Fooks and
Lisa Maslove. The authors review general definitions
and types of accountability. In attempting to apply those
concepts to health care, they find a number of gaps,
including a failure to clearly identify which health care
stakeholders are responsible (and hence, accountable)
for what.
Subsequent papers examine two very different accountability
mechanisms. In Engaging Citizens: One Route to Health
Care Accountability, Julia Abelson and François-Pierre
Gauvin of McMaster University point to the high
expectations of citizen engagement as a way to address

April 8, 2004
NetworkNews, Number 25

Tom McIntosh, Director
growing calls for accountability in health care. But they
caution that effective citizen engagement comes with
significant demands, including the need for an ongoing
two-way exchange and power sharing.
In Accountability in Health Care and Legal Approaches,
Nola Ries and Tim Caulfield from the University
of Alberta evaluate the prospects for strengthened
accountability through the use of mechanisms ranging
from legal challenges to patient bills of rights or health
care guarantees.

“With the first report in your health care
accountability series, CPRN has done it again
with a very impressive document. Nova Scotia
has been concerned about establishing stronger
accountability with its crown corporations. Your
paper could provide good input into the thinking
behind this work.”
– N.S. Finance Ministry Executive

April 16, 2004
Engaging Citizens: One Route to Health Care Accountability,
Julia Abelson, Francois-Pierre Gauvin
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In our view, the public debate around accountability in
health care is in its infancy. In the coming year, the Health
Network aims to bring clarity and breadth to the issue
by continuing the health care Concepts of Accountability
series with papers on two additional accountability
mechanisms, public reporting of performance measures
and the role of citizen governors in decision making.
An additional background piece will review what health
legislation can tell us about existing accountability
relationships. The series will culminate with a synthesis
paper and roundtable in 2005. The roundtable will bring
together an interdisciplinary group of academics and
policymakers to assess where future research efforts could
be directed to contribute to a more accountable health
care system.

Sustaining Public Confidence
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In the eyes of many observers, wait times are the Achilles
heel in Canadians’ continued support for medicare.
Indeed, the challenge of wait times was the main health
policy issue in the June 2004 federal election campaign.
A few months earlier (in March 2004), the Health
Network helped to organize a colloquium on wait times
(The Taming of the Queue: Wait Time Measurement,
Monitoring and Management) on behalf of a group of
Canadian health care organizations. This event brought
together 80 experts, including clinicians, researchers and
government representatives, who suggested a number of
steps to improve the management of wait lists nationwide.
These include further research on what are appropriate
wait times for specific procedures and specific patient
groups, and public engagement around the question of
why waiting lists exist. Participants called for a systems
approach to managing wait times that is centred on
patient needs.

April 23, 2004
Urgent Need, Serious Opportunity: Towards a New Social
Model for Canada’s Aboriginal Peoples, Frances Abele

“The Taming of the Queue not only has the best title
of any report produced this year, it also provides a
clear and cogent analysis of the issues involved with
waiting times.”
– Federal Minister of Health

Our Most Important Resource
Building on the Health Network’s contribution to
the Romanow Commission, health human resources
re-emerged as an active research area for us this year.
Regardless of how our health care system evolves,
sustaining it will require an adequate and appropriate
supply of health care professionals. Indeed, one of
the challenges of health human resources planning is
forecasting the need for different professionals, in the
face of ever-changing models of care delivery and
professional scopes of practice.
In late 2003, the Health Network received funding
from Health Canada’s Office of Nursing Policy (ONP)
to study progress in improving the quality of worklife
for nurses. While individual leaders are working hard to
improve nurses’ working conditions and career development, in Our Health, Our Future: Creating Quality
Workplaces for Canadian Nurses – A Progress Report on
Implementing the Final Report of the Canadian Nursing
Advisory Committee we identified a number of institutional barriers to change. These include a lack of stable
funding for nursing employers and confusion over roles
in the fostering of quality workplaces. Ours was one of
six projects funded by the ONP during this period and
we were pleased to present our work as part of a panel to
launch Nursing Week in May 2004.

April 23, 2004
Lessons from Abroad: Towards a New Social Model for Canada’s
Aboriginal Peoples, Martin Papillon, Gina Cosentino

of providing health services and by way of surveys.
Access to the data needs to be managed for a number
of reasons, the protection of privacy being paramount
among them. This past year, we collaborated with
colleagues from the University of British Columbia
on an extensive project to examine the current status
of access to health data by researchers, and to make
recommendations for investments to develop health
data resources. This project is funded by the Canadian
Institutes of Health Research and other partners, and
will be completed in Fall 2004.
From left to right: Tom McIntosh, Lisa Maslove and Vesna Duricic.

Also in the health human resources field, the Health
Network completed an environmental scan of government
programs designed to train, recruit and retain physicians,
nurses and pharmacists. Finally, we continue to be involved
in Task Force Two: A Physician Human Resource Strategy
for Canada. In partnership with the Canadian Labour
and Business Centre, the Health Network is studying
the occupational trends that influence the appropriate
supply, mix and distribution of physicians. This work
will be completed in Fall 2004.

Supporting Health Research
We know that research is crucial to sustaining and
advancing our health services as well as to their delivery.
Recent years have seen increased investment in the
people and infrastructure we need to produce high-quality
Canadian health research. Another equally important
element is data about Canadians, their health and use
of health services. These data are collected in the course

April 26, 2004
Canada’s New Social Risks: A Diagnostique
for a New Social Architecture – Roundtable

Cathy Fooks Steps Down
The year ended on a bittersweet note with the departure
of the Health Network’s Director, Cathy Fooks, to
become the first Executive Director of the new Health
Council of Canada. While CPRN will miss the vision
and energy she brought to the revival of the Health
Network, her appointment is great news for the Council
and its intended audience, Canadians at large.

“As someone responsible for leading changes to
seniors care in my province, I would like to
congratulate you on a concise, direct and perceptive
analysis of the problems of implementing primary
health care reform… from personal experience your
assessment of the challenges is perceptive and
knowledgeable.”
– Health Care Executive

April 27, 2004
“Trust and Balance” – Citizens’ Dialogue on the Ontario Budget Strategy
2004-2008, Judith Nolté, Judith Maxwell, Mary Pat MacKinnon
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Tom McIntosh – Director, Health Network
In September 2004, Tom McIntosh was appointed as the
new Director of the Health Network. He is also Assistant
Professor, Department of Political Science, University
of Regina, and Research Faculty at the Saskatchewan
Population Health and Evaluation Research Unit, at the
university. He rejoined the university after working as
Research Coordinator for the Romanow Commission.
Prior to that, Tom McIntosh was a Research Fellow
and Senior Policy Analyst at the Saskatchewan Institute
of Public Policy, a Senior Policy Consultant for the
Saskatchewan Department of Health, and a Senior Research
Associate at the Institute of Intergovernmental Relations
at Queen’s University. He has a Ph.D. in Political Studies
from Queen’s.
Health Network Staff:

“Very informative, a well-written concise summary
of important work going on in the developed world
to find ways to sustain and improve each country’s
healthcare system... Congratulations on producing
an excellent issue... very important to those of us
interested in comparative health policies and practices.”
– Health Care Academic

“I have just returned from participating in a most
informative dialogue on our Canadian governments
and choices…. What an eye opener, and thank you for
giving me the opportunity to express my opinions.”
– Dialogue Participant

Lisa Maslove, M.Sc., Researcher
Vesna Duricic, Project Manager
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“I have asked my staff to continue to monitor
the efforts of CPRN by receiving your e-mail
distribution notices.”
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– Provincial Deputy Minister

May 7, 2004
Accountability in Health Care and Legal Approaches,
Nola M. Ries, Timothy Caulfield

May 14, 2004
Coordinating Interdependence: Governance and Social Policy Redesign
in Britain, the European Union and Canada, Denis Saint-Martin

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT NETWORK
Sustainability had a prominent place in the Public
Involvement Network’s initiatives during its second full
year of operation. Managing our resources in a responsible
and sustainable manner and leaving a strong legacy for
our children and grandchildren were clear imperatives
for participants in two recent citizens’ dialogues. They
also made it clear that providing a welcoming and
respected space for citizens to engage with issues that
matter to them is vital if democracy is to be sustained.
CPRN’s Public Involvement Network (PIN) continued
to contribute to and encourage research on public
involvement (theory and practice), and worked to
deepen existing interest and spark new interest among
policymakers, politicians, practitioners and the public.
PIN’s work is premised on the belief that involving the
public makes decisions more legitimate and sustainable,
leading to better policy outcomes.

Citizens’ Dialogue on the Long-term
Management of Used Nuclear Fuel
The Nuclear Waste Management Organization asked
CPRN to undertake a citizens’ dialogue to better
understand the values Canadians expect to see reflected
in a long-term approach to managing used nuclear fuel.
A randomly selected representative group of 462 citizens
participated in daylong sessions in 12 cities across Canada.
They explored intergenerational responsibilities and
sought to define the governance mechanisms that would
give them confidence in decision making about the

May 21, 2004
What’s Fair? Ethical Decision-making in an Aging Society,
Nuala Kenny

Mary Pat MacKinnon, Director
management of used nuclear fuel. Our report, Responsible
Action – Citizens’ Dialogue on the Long-term Management
of Used Nuclear Fuel presents the results of the dialogue.
In defining their own vision, citizens concluded:
• They want to take responsibility and act now on the
waste created in generating electricity they have used,
but they want to ensure that future generations can
adapt the approach in light of new knowledge
and technologies.
“I very much enjoyed in participating in the Citizens’
Dialogue on the Management of Used Nuclear Fuel
in Canada. I normally work at home, alone, so it
was a pleasant change to work as part of a group
again, and I felt privileged to be consulted on such
an important subject.”
– Citizen Dialogue Participant

May 21, 2004
Improving Access to Employment Rights and Benefits – Workshop
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• They supported conserving energy use, exploiting
alternative energy sources and fully assessing the
costs and benefits of all types of energy.
• They were surprised at how little they knew about
the issues surrounding used nuclear fuel and called
for greater transparency of government and industry,
including an independent watchdog to provide
reliable information.
• They want to be informed and included in decisions
that affect their health and safety and that of future
generations. They set out roles and responsibilities
for government, industry, experts and themselves
for decision making and ongoing management.

Citizens’ Dialogue on the Ontario Budget
Strategy 2004-2008
In winter 2004, CPRN held a series of citizens’ dialogues
as part of the Ontario Government’s “Delivering Change:
Budget Town Hall 2004 Consultation” process. More
than 250 randomly selected Ontarians gathered in
6 locations across the province to discuss the values
and principles that should guide the 2004-2008 budget
strategy. Our report, “Trust and Balance” – Citizens’
Dialogue on the Ontario Budget Strategy 2004-2008
(April 2004) captures the key findings of what
citizens said:
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• They want the government to take a balanced,
holistic approach, and show leadership by cleaning
house, streamlining services, eliminating waste/
duplication and demonstrating more transparent
and accountable governance. They also want true
citizen engagement where the advice of citizens is
really listened to and used.

May 26, 2004
Roundtable – Dialogue Methodology and Debrief Sessions

“The lessons learned from the Social Contract
Dialogue are valuable to all of us who serve
Canadians, especially valuable to public servants
who manage portfolios related to economic
development, international development, poverty
and social marginalization, environmental
and health risks.”
– Federal Project Manager

• Most are prepared to pay more in service fees for
public goods and services in future, but they did
not give a green light to raise income or retail taxes
at this time. Ontarians first need to see the evidence
of good management – increased accountability,
efficiency and transparency – and they do not
want higher fees to place a greater burden on
vulnerable people.
The enthusiasm with which citizens embraced the
dialogue process is captured by this comment from
one participant in Hawkesbury:
C’est un honneur pour nous les citoyens de pouvoir
exprimer ce que nous pensons et désirons pour le budget
futur... Nous souhaitons, tous, un bel avenir pour nos
enfants et petits-enfants et nous devons faire le plus
possible aujourd’hui pour y arriver.

May 28, 2004
A Focus on Income Support: Implementing Quebec’s
Law Against Poverty and Social Exclusion, Alain Noël

Citizen Engagement and Democratic
Renewal – Building and Sustaining Trust
In both dialogues the lack of trust in governments was
high, yet the willingness of participants to play a role in
helping governments with difficult decisions was inspiring.
This is not a citizenry that is disinterested or disengaged.
Rather, it is one that is not satisfied with the traditional
mechanisms of engagement and accountability. These
findings echoed what citizens said in two earlier CPRN
dialogues: Citizens’ Dialogue on Canada’s Future:
A 21st Century Social Contract (2003) and the Citizens’
Dialogue on the Future of Health Care in Canada (2002).
In a paper PIN prepared for Treasury Board of Canada,
Secretariat, Transparency, Trust and Citizen Engagement
– What Citizens Are Saying About Accountability, Julia Ableson
and François-Pierre Gauvin further explored what dialogue
participants said about their expectations for accountability.
In all four dialogues, people spoke of wanting to engage
more fully in public policy discourse. They agreed to
come to the dialogues because they wanted to have a say
and to have their voices heard. They see active participation in the democratic process – beyond voting – as part
of their responsibilities as Canadians.
I’m really pleased to be able to partake in this. This is
important, this is a right we should not lose, the right
to speak up and have an input into how our country
is run. (Participant, 2004 Used Nuclear Fuel
Dialogue, Vancouver)

June 4, 2004
Citizens’ Values and the Canadian Social Architecture: Evidence from
the Citizens’ Dialogue on Canada’s Future, Mary Pat MacKinnon

From left to right: Louise Coupal Jauvin, Mary Pat MacKinnon,
Judy Watling, and Nandini Saxena.

For democratic renewal to succeed, politicians need to
try new ways of engaging their constituents in meaningful
discussions on what reform should look like, and what
kind of change would increase their confidence and trust
in their political and public institutions. PIN will continue
to encourage greater public involvement in these efforts.

Community and Capacity Building
In May 2004, PIN held a dialogue design and methodology
workshop with the team of facilitators and other key
advisors who worked with CPRN on recent dialogues,
resulting in innovative and practical recommendations
for improvements. A report on the workshop is available
on CPRN’s Web site.
An open house for the public involvement practitioners
designed to share information on activities and research
took place in Fall 2003. A second roundtable with a smaller
group to advance the idea of organizing a Canadian
conference on dialogue and deliberation followed. We
continue to work with our partners on making this idea
a reality and hope to make significant progress in the
coming year.

June 14, 2004
Roundtable – Creative Cities – CPRN Dialogue
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“I found it interesting that participants in earlier
Citizens’ dialogues have increased their community
and political involvement since engaging in the CPRN
Dialogue. This is encouraging news. These results
provide convincing evidence that Canadians want to
be more engaged in the policy process, and that if it
is done well, the process itself will spark continuing
interest in public policy engagement; it is a virtuous
circle... The Social Contract Dialogue report and its
follow-up are premier examples of the valuable contribution CPRN brings to Canadian governance.”
– Federal Deputy Minister

Over the course of the year, PIN made numerous
presentations to the public and not-for profit sectors on
the importance of public involvement, methodologies,
and the results of our dialogues. Included in our
presentations were those made to the Expert Policy
Forum – Citizen Engagement in Ontario, Democratic
Renewal Secretariat, Government of Ontario; the Ontario
Municipal Social Services Association Administrators
Seminar; the Canadian Centre for Analysis and
Regionalization of Health Conference; the John K. Friessen
Conference on Gerontology; Romanow One Year Later;
and the CCAF Leaders’ Symposium on Public
Performance Reporting.

PIN and the Health Network continued to provide
support to the Canadian Public Health Association’s
VOICE in Health Policy Project, which seeks to enhance
collaboration between Health Canada and the voluntary
sector in federal health policy development. This work
will continue in 2004-05.
In Fall 2003, PIN presented the methodology for and
results from the Citizens’ Dialogue on Canada’s Future
at a seminar in Brazil, hosted by Canada’s International
Development Research Centre (IDRC). Following on
this seminar, CPRN was pleased to provide further advice,
training and support to two Brazilian NGOs that are
undertaking a national dialogue with youth, exploring
the themes of youth, democracy and participation in public
and political spheres. IDRC is supporting this initiative,
which adapts deliberative dialogue methodology to the
Brazilian context.
The Health Products and Food Branch (HPFB) of Health
Canada commissioned PIN to review and synthesize input
from stakeholders, particularly patients and consumers,
relating to issues and expectations for participation and
involvement in the HPFB decision-making process. The
review identified strengths and provided recommendations
on areas for improvement.
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Mentoring, Training, Support
and Related Research

June 25, 2004
A Family Affair: The Impact of Paying for College or University,
Fred Hemingway, Kathryn McMullen

July 9, 2004
Our Health, Our Future: Creating Quality Workplaces
for Canadian Nurses, Lisa Maslove, Cathy Fooks

Looking Ahead
In September 2004, CPRN convened a gathering of
Canadian academics working in the field of public
involvement to identify research priorities. Based on
their feedback, CPRN will be commissioning a series
of research papers to further collective understanding of
the impacts of public involvement and the mechanisms
needed to support it, as well as foster a network among
academics and practitioners in the public involvement
field in Canada. We are very excited about the contribution
of this research to capacity development in the public
involvement field, and are looking forward to opportunities
for greater collaboration across an expanded network.
CPRN is working with McMaster University to hold a
deliberative dialogue with randomly recruited citizens to
explore Canadian attitudes relating to privacy, access to
personal data and health research. The dialogue is funded
by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR).
Another major initiative for the coming year brings
together all CPRN networks. To celebrate its 10th
Anniversary, CPRN is planning a dialogue with
Canadian youth to better understand their hopes and
expectations, inform public policy decisions and help
shape CPRN’s work for the coming decade. CPRN is
seeking to involve foundations and organizations from
all sectors. The dialogue results will be shared at a
summit with youth and decision makers from
governments and the private and voluntary sectors.

Mary Pat MacKinnon –
Director, Public Involvement Network
Mary Pat MacKinnon joined CPRN in May 2002. She
was formerly Director of Government Affairs and Policy
at the Canadian Co-operative Association/Credit Union
Central of Canada, where she managed a large portfolio
of government affairs and policy research projects. She
has also been Social and Economic Policy Consultant
with the Social Planning Council of Ottawa, Planner at
the Department of Development in the Government of
Nova Scotia, and Research Associate to the Pepin-Robarts
Task Force on National Unity. She has a B.A. and a
M.P.A. from Queen’s University, and is an active
volunteer in her own community.
Public Involvement Network Staff:
Judy Watling, M.P.A., Assistant Director
Nandini Saxena, M.S.W., Researcher
Louise Coupal Jauvin, Project Manager
Public Involvement Research Associates:
Suzanne Taschereau
Miriam Wyman
Sandra Zagon
“I appreciated the report on the Citizens’ Dialogue
on Canada’s Future. I agree that there are challenges
ahead for all levels of government and I have no doubt
that CPRN will be making significant contributions
to the many issues facing governments.”
– Provincial Deputy Minister

July 23, 2004
Implementing Primary Care Reform in Canada: Barriers and Facilitators,
Cathy Fooks
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FAMILY NETWORK
The Family Network engages a variety of communities
in the search for evidence-based knowledge about the
best social policy mix for Canadians. In 2003-04, research
focused on finding the best mix for redesigning and
sustaining Canada’s social architecture and, through it,
the well-being of Canadians.

The Best Policy Mix for Canadians
The Network’s best policy mix research series seeks
to identify the most effective combination of policy
choices for Canadians at every stage of life. In 2003-04,
the Network’s ambitious research program, A Social
Architecture for Canada’s 21st Century, produced eight
major research reports, each exploring the production
and sustainability of social well-being from different
perspectives. Working from the premise that Canada,
with other countries, faces a moment of “fundamental
choice” stemming from the enormous social and economic
changes of the past 50 years, the reports offer a reassessment of our critical social needs and the way we choose
to meet them.
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In Catching Up to Reality: Building the Case for a New Social
Model, Jane Jenson sketches the issues, while studies by
Gerard Boychuk, Bruno Palier, Roxanne Pawlick and
Sharon Stroick situate Canada’s current social model
historically and comparatively. Mary Pat MacKinnon
explores the role of citizen values in the framing of a
new social model. A report by Francis Abele considers
the meaning of a new social architecture for Aboriginal
peoples in Canada, while Gina Cosentino and

David Hay, Director
Martin Papillon document lessons from abroad.
Denis Saint-Martin completes the package with a
comparative study of the changes in the institutions
and practices of social policy governance in the European
Union, Canada and Britain. Jane Jenson has written
a final synthesis report.
In a related vein, in May 2004 CPRN published A Focus
on Income Support: Implementing Quebec’s Law Against
Poverty and Social Exclusion, an assessment of the Charest
government’s new anti-poverty action plan by Alain Noël,
Director of the Université de Montréal’s Centre de
recherche sur les politiques et le développement social.

“I participated in several CPRN consultations on
policy options for pre-school and school-age children.
The documentation that came out of those meetings
formed the basis of several policy recommendations
which were ultimately approved by Cabinet...
‘thank you’ to CPRN for top quality information
which has made a great difference to the children
of New Brunswick.”
– Social Planning Consultant

The Family Network also continued its focus on the best
policy mix for children and families. A major new undertaking for the Network is Kids Canada Policy Digest/
Enfance Canada. The English edition was launched on
the CPRN Web site in April, while the French edition
was launched in June. Kids Canada provides easy access
online to comparable information about federal, provincial
and territorial policies and programs that contribute to
the well-being of children and families. As a comprehensive
snapshot of the content and intent of current government
policy, Kids Canada helps us to mark our progress toward
a “family-enabling society” in which we all benefit. The
first policy inventories focus on the administration of
policies and programs for children and families, federal
policy, and provincial and territorial income supports
and leaves from work. Additional inventory fields will
be added in 2004-05.
In November 2003, CPRN published Articulation
travail-famille : Le contre-exemple des pays dits “libéraux”?
by Caroline Beauvais and Pascale Dufour, a comparative
examination of work-family balance in three “liberal”
welfare regimes (the United Kingdom, Canada and
Quebec). With support from The Change Foundation
and the Law Commission of Canada, CPRN released
another “best mix” study, What’s Fair? Ethical Decisionmaking in an Aging Society, by Nuala Kenny
of Dalhousie University. This ground-breaking study
uses the concepts of “intergenerational equity” and the
ethic of care to develop a set of guiding principles for
thinking about resource distribution between and
among the generations.

Cities and Communities
Place is intrinsically connected to the production and
sustainability of social well-being. Cities and communities,
both large and small, are sites of innovation, economic
development, and social and cultural interaction. With
a population that is more than 80 percent urban, the
quality of these places matters to Canadians. Cities and
communities, therefore, remains a growth area for the
Family Network in 2003-04.
“The output over the past two years from the
Family Network has been really, really impressive...
the total output really stands as a linked narrative
on social development which is extremely useful.”
– Labour Economist

In January 2004, Neil Bradford, the author of the
path-breaking CPRN publication Why Cities Matter:
Policy Research Perspectives for Canada (June 2002),
joined CPRN as a part-time research fellow to manage
the Cities and Communities research program. He is
directing a new series of Structured Policy Dialogues
designed to bring the users and producers of urban
policy knowledge together. Working in partnership with
Canadian Heritage and Industry Canada, the series was
launched in June with a Structured Dialogue on Creative
Cities. Neil Bradford is also preparing a research report
on multilevel governance for publication in the Fall. He
has presented the preliminary results of this research to
a variety of interested groups across the country.
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Citizenship and Diversity

From left to right, back row: Lynda Becker, Trish Adams and
Beverly Boutilier. Front row: Cynthia Williams and David Hay.

Urban Nexus, the Network’s successful monthly e-bulletin
of research and news, prepared by Neil Bradford, continued
in 2003-04. An online survey revealed a high level of
satisfaction among Urban Nexus subscribers, as well as a
diverse audience group. More than 400 new subscribers
joined the Urban Nexus list, bringing the total number of
subscribers to 1,493 in 2003-04. This nearly 40 percent
rise in readership underlines the value of Urban Nexus
as an essential resource for policymakers at every level of
government, and for students and policy experts worldwide.
CPRN is building on this interest in 2004-05 by
exploring the development of an Urban Policy Forum
on the CPRN Web site for the users and producers of
urban policy knowledge.
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On behalf of the Privy Council Office Urban Task Force
on Canada’s Urban Communities, Jane Jenson and
Martin Papillon facilitated a federal horizontal policy
initiative about innovation and economic development
in cities. The initiative focused in particular on the
federal government’s role in cluster development, on
innovation in communities and on labour market
integration. Ten federal departments and agencies
took part.

Our institutions of citizenship, and the ideas and practices
that promote social cohesion and promote respect for
diversity, grow in importance as Canadian society
becomes more pluralist. In The “Canadian Diversity
Model”: A Repertoire in Search of a Framework (November
2001), Jane Jenson and Martin Papillon argue that
compromise between sets of competing values and a
repertoire of liberal democratic practices characterize
the “Canadian diversity model.” This remains a central
insight in the field. It is also the foundation for the
Network’s new Web-based “portal” on diversity issues.
Produced by Beverly Boutilier, the Diversity Gateway will
provide quick access to research and learning about the
policy choices that have made Canada a pluralist society.
Among the unique features of the Diversity Gateway is a
historical segment titled “Origins” that uses images and
words to explore the contribution of different policy
fields to Canadian pluralism.
In 2003-04, the Network also developed a series of
inventory tables for the Canadian Institute for Health
Information to help assess national progress in implementing selected recommendations of the Royal
Commission on Aboriginal Peoples between 1996 and
2002. In October 2003, the Network also organized a
policy consultation on behalf of the Canadian Institutes
of Health Research to help them solicit feedback from
the Canadian policy community about a major research
report on gender, globalization and health, in which
cultural diversity was considered as a factor.
“Congratulations to your group on the series of
linked papers around social policy. Well done!”
– Provincial Policy Advisor

David Hay – Director, Family Network

CPRN Research Fellow in Cities and Communities:

Following the departure of Jane Jenson in June,
David Hay joined CPRN as the new Director of the
Family Network in July 2004. He joins CPRN from the
Canadian Population Health Initiative at the Canadian
Institute for Health Information. He received his Ph.D.
in Community Health from the University of Toronto.
David Hay has many years of experience researching
and writing about population health, well-being, and
social development in the private, public and non-profit
sectors. His areas of expertise include child and family
policy, poverty and inequality, and measurement
and evaluation.

Neil Bradford, Ph.D.

Family Network Staff:
Beverly Boutilier, Ph.D., Assistant Director
Lynda Becker, Project Manager
Trish Adams, Administrative Assistant
(Family and Work Networks)
“Let me simply say how pleased and encouraged
I am when I continue to see the excellent work
you are doing with respect to the focus on children,
including early childhood learning and child care.
I know that when you speak – you make a difference,
you influence change. Your contributions to the
debates re addressing the critical issues facing our
sector are significant. Thank you!”
– Non-profit Executive Director

Senior Research Fellow:
Cynthia Williams
Family Network Research Associates:
Jane Jenson, Ph.D.
Rianne Mahon, Ph.D.
Martin Papillon, M.A., L.L.B.
Denis Saint-Martin, Ph.D.
Sharon M. Stroick, Ph.D.
“Thank you so much for the opportunity to
participate in the CPRN roundtable on a ‘New
Social Architecture’. I enjoyed the discussion and,
as always, learned a great deal…. There is a great
deal of interest in your work among my contacts
and colleagues.”
– YWCA Executive

41

OUR SUPPORT
For the Period Ending June 30, 2004

Donations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

BCE Inc.
BMO Financial Group
COGECO Inc.
Maclab Enterprises
Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System
Power Corporation of Canada
Scotiabank

• Members of the Board of Directors, Campaign

Committee and management team
• Many e-network subscribers and friends of CPRN

Project Funding:
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Corporations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bell Canada
Business Development Bank of Canada
CIBC
DVA Navion
Ekos Research Associates Inc.
Holding O.C.B. Inc.
Home Depot Canada
Ketchum Canada Inc.
RBC Financial Group
SNC-Lavalin Group Inc.
TD Bank Financial Group

Federal Government Departments,
Agencies and Commissions:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation
Canadian Heritage
Citizenship and Immigration Canada
Health Canada
Human Resources Development Canada
Human Resources Skills Development Canada
Indian and Northern Affairs Canada
Industry Canada
International Development Research Centre
Law Commission of Canada
Liberal Caucus Research Bureau
Parks Canada
Privy Council Office
Social Development Canada
Statistics Canada
Treasury Board of Canada, Secretariat

Provincial Governments:
Alberta
• Human Resources and Employment
British Columbia
• Ministries of Health
• Ministry of Children and Family Development
• Office of the Deputy Minister to the Premier
Manitoba
• Department of Family Services and Housing

Ontario
• Association of Colleges of Applied Arts and
Technology of Ontario (ACPATO)
• Ministry of Community and Social Services
• Ministry of Finance Pre-budget Consultation
• Ministry of Health
• Ministry of Training, College and
Universities (MTCU)
Saskatchewan
• Department of Community Resources
and Employment

Municipal Governments:
• City of Toronto

Foundations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Atkinson Charitable Foundation
The Bertelsmann Foundation
Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation
Canadian Health Services Research Foundation
The Change Foundation
The Hospital for Sick Children Foundation
R. Howard Webster Foundation
J. W. McConnell Family Foundation
The Muttart Foundation
The Neptis Foundation
RBC Foundation

Associations and Other Organizations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

AFP Foundation for Philanthropy – Canada
AFP Calgary Chapter
AFP International
AFP Toronto Chapter
Association of Fundraising Professionals (AFP)
Canadian Institute of Planners
Canadian Labour and Business Centre
Canadian Labour Congress
Canadian Medical Association
Canadian Population Health Initiative
Canadian Public Health Association
Coalition of National Voluntary Organizations
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario
Conference Board of Canada
The Learning Partnership
National Voluntary Organizations
Nuclear Waste Management Organization
United Way of Canada
Université de Montréal
University of Toronto (Faculty of Law)
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2004. 2 pp.
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52 pp.
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Government. September 2003. 50 pp.
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Workplace Health Strategies Bureau, Health Canada.
March 2003. 33 pp.
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Chart (March 2003). 4 pp.

Work-Life Balance in the New Millennium: Where Are
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Higgins. Discussion Paper No. W|12. October 2001.
92 pp.

The Non-profit Sector
What all Board Members of Non-profits Need to Know.
Research Highlights. Ron Saunders. Number 4. January
2004. 8 pp.
Passion and Commitment Under Stress: Human Resource
Issues in Canada’s Non-profit Sector – A Synthesis Report.
Ron Saunders. CPRN Research Series on Human
Resources in the Non-profit Sector – No|5. January
2004. 89 pp.
Coping with Change: Human Resource Management in
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May 2003. 8 pp.

Post-secondary Education –
Demand and Supply Issues
A Family Affair: The Impact of Paying for College
or University. Fred Hemingway Consulting and
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Health Network
Strengthening Accountability in the
Canadian Health Care System
Concepts of Accountability
Accountability in Health Care and Legal Approaches.
Nola M. Ries, Timothy Caulfield. Health Care
Accountability Papers – No|3. May 2004. 45 pp.
Engaging Citizens: One Route to Health Care
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Health Care Accountability Papers – No|2. April 2004.
63 pp.
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Rhetoric, Fallacy or Dream? Examining the
Accountability of Canadian Health Care to Citizens.
Cathy Fooks, Lisa Maslove. Health Care Accountability
Papers – No|1. March 2004. 54 pp.

Managing and Implementing Change in the
Canadian Health Care System
Implementing Primary Care Reform in Canada:
Barriers and Facilitators. Cathy Fooks. July 2004.
11 pp.
The Taming of the Queue: Wait Time Measurement,
Monitoring and Management – Colloquium Report.
Cathy Fooks. March 2004. 24 pp.

Monitoring Health Renewal in the
Canadian Health Care System
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Citizens Dialogue on the Ontario Budget
Strategy 2004-2008
“Trust and Balance” – Citizens’ Dialogue on the Ontario
Budget Strategy 2004-2008. Judith Nolté, Judith
Maxwell, Mary Pat MacKinnon. Research Report P|03.
April 2004. 44 pp.

Citizens’ Dialogue on the Long-term
Management of Used Nuclear Fuel in Canada
Responsible Action – Citizens’ Dialogue on the Longterm Management of Used Nuclear Fuel. Judith Watling,
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Research Report P|04. July 2004. 76 pp.
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Citizens’ Dialogue Experience: Follow-up Survey Results.
Nandini Saxena. October 2003. 40 pp.

Health Human Resource Planning
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Implementing the Final Report of the Canadian Nursing
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Building Capacity for Public Involvement
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What’s Fair? Ethical Decision-making in an Aging
Society. Nuala Kenny. Research Report F|44. May 2004.
65 pp.

Place Matters and Multi-level Governance: Perspectives
on a New Urban Policy Paradigm. Neil Bradford.
February 2004. 13 pp.
Cities and Communities that Work: Innovative Practices,
Enabling Policies. Neil Bradford. Discussion Paper No.
F|32. June 2003. 96 pp.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Auditors’ Report
To the Members
CPRN Canadian Policy Research Networks Inc./
RCRPP Réseaux canadiens de recherche en politiques publiques inc.
We have audited the statement of financial position of CPRN Canadian Policy Research Networks
Inc./RCRPP Réseaux canadiens de recherche en politiques publiques inc. as at June 30, 2004 and the
statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Corporation as at June 30, 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. As required by the Canada
Corporations Act, we report that, in our opinion, these principles have been applied on a basis consistent
with that of the preceding year.

Chartered Accountants
Ottawa, Canada
August 11, 2004
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Financial Position
June 30, 2004

2004

2003

$

$

418,347
546,565
29,745
994,657
4,156,132
284,848
5,435,637

501,953
333,003
12,606
847,562
4,717,970
354,941
5,920,473

179,637
1,288,392
1,468,029
3,680,974
5,149,003

179,605
1,227,873
1,407,478
4,226,361
5,633,839

284,848
1,786
286,634
5,435,637

354,941
(68,307)
286,634
5,920,473

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants and other amounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Marketable securities (Note 3)
Capital assets (Note 4)

LIABILITIES
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Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of deferred contributions
Deferred contributions (Note 6)

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
On behalf of the Board,
Director
Director

Operations
Year ended June 30, 2004

2004

2003

$

$

2,874,969
73,805
244,303
33,528
92,779
11,501
3,330,885

2,319,279
25,775
293,624
19,961
100,124
14,110
2,772,873

98,815
161,737
28,902
16,206
12,371
318,031
2,038,381
92,779
1,165,046
33,836
53,338
11,285
78,662
34,009

134,107
152,011
33,593
30,525
12,242
362,478
1,978,000
100,124
1,056,705
106,250
45,327
11,456
132,098
9,163
200,000
100,798
4,102,399

Revenue
Project grants
President’s Innovation Fund and other donations
Investment income (Note 6)
Fees
In kind salaries
Other

Expenditures
Office services
Office equipment and supplies
Premises
Telecommunications
Postage and courier
Sundry
Salaries and benefits
In kind salaries
Research and networking
Contract and professional services
Travel and representation
Library and memberships
Publications
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Write-down of marketable securities (Note 3)
Amortization of capital assets
Deficiency of revenue over expenditures
before long-term unrestricted grant funding
Long-term unrestricted grant funding (Note 6)
Excess of revenue over expenditures

102,661
3,928,028
(597,143)
597,143
–

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(1,329,526)
1,329,526
–
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Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2004

Total
Invested in capital assets

Unrestricted

2004

2003

$

$

$

$

Balance, beginning of year
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over
expenditures
Net investment in capital assets
Balance, end of year

354,941

(68,307)

286,634

286,634

(136,670)
66,577
284,848

136,670
(66,577)
1,786

286,634

286,634

Cash Flows
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2004

2003

$

$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Non-cash items
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of bond discounts and premiums
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Write-down of marketable securities
Changes in working capital items (Note 7)

(715,537)

100,798
(41,268)
9,163
200,000
(1,311,047)

Cash flows from operating activities

(615,991)

(1,042,354)

(66,577)

(126,242)
4,624
2,219,710
(1,798,088)

102,661
(37,124)
34,009

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets
Proceeds from disposal of capital assets
Maturities of marketable securities
Marketable securities invested

898,962
(300,000)

Cash flows from investing activities

532,385

300,004

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(83,606)
501,953

(742,350)
1,244,303

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

418,347

501,953

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2004

1 GOVERNING STATUTES AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
CPRN Canadian Policy Research Networks Inc. / RCRPP Réseaux canadiens de recherche en politiques publiques inc.
(CPRN), a not-for-profit corporation incorporated under Part II of the Canada Corporations Act, serves to promote
the advancement of knowledge in Canada regarding socioeconomic issues and to establish, maintain and operate
research networks. CPRN is a registered charitable organization for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recorded in the financial statements
and notes to financial statements. These estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events
and actions that the organization may undertake in the future. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Marketable securities
Marketable securities are carried at cost, with purchase premium or discounts on bond acquisitions being amortized
over the term of applicable holdings.

Capital assets
Capital assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives according to the following methods and annual rates:

Furniture and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

Methods

Rates and period

Diminishing balance
Diminishing balance
Straight-line

20%
30%
7 years

Revenue recognition
CPRN follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Under this method, contributions restricted
for future periods are deferred, and are reported as revenue in the year in which related expenses are incurred.
Unrestricted contributions are reported as revenue when received or receivable, if the amount to be received can
be reasonably estimated, and collection is reasonably assured.

Fair value of short-term financial instruments
Given that they will mature shortly, the fair value of short-term financial instruments is equivalent to their
carrying value.
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3 MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Bond holdings, with interest at rates varying from 6.15% to 7.75%,
maturing from August 2005 to July 2012, with an average effective
interest rate of 6.7% (Market value $3,673,165; $4,315,519 in 2003)
Guaranteed investment certificate, 1.95% interest,
maturing June 8, 2005 (Market value $300,000)
17,525 units of various stock indexed mutual funds, at cost
(Market value $673,257, $557,463 in 2003)

2004

2003

$

$

3,257,450

4,119,288

300,000

598,682
4,156,132

598,682
4,717,970

While CPRN has principally chosen to invest in bond holdings, it has also chosen to vary overall investment
risk by way of mutual fund holdings. The realizable value of securities held is ultimately determined by
market value.
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Due to the quoted market value of the stock indexed mutual funds being below carrying value, a writedown
of $200,000 was recorded in 2003. Prior to this write-down, the carrying value of mutual funds holdings
was $798,682.

4 CAPITAL ASSETS

2004

Furniture and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

$

$

$

149,939
363,097
87,863
600,899

69,315
211,316
35,420
316,051

80,624
151,781
52,443
284,848

2003

Furniture and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

5

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

$

$

$

255,639
550,122
83,505
889,266

192,896
318,283
23,146
534,325

62,743
231,839
60,359
354,941

BANK LOAN
CPRN has arranged a revolving credit facility to a maximum of $200,000 at prime rate of interest plus 0.5%.
As at June 30, 2004 the direct line of credit facility utilization was $Nil ($Nil at June 30, 2003).

6

DEFERRED GRANT CONTRIBUTIONS
During 1999, CPRN received a long-term unrestricted grant of $9,000,000 from the Government of Canada.
It being intended that these funds, together with future interest thereon, be used to finance investments in
research capacity, and the development of new research programs. The Grant was subject to a number of
conditions and representations, one of which required that an external review, to evaluate program delivery
by CPRN, be carried out prior to March 31, 2004. In satisfaction of this requirement, at June 30, 2004,
field work for the review was under way.
CPRN, in connection with representations made to the Federal Government of Canada, has adopted a
multi-year absorption policy in respect of these funds. The amount to be appropriated in each future year
being dependent upon Board approval of management allocations. In the fiscal year ending June 30, 2005,
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it is proposed that a maximum of $830,000 ($850,000 in 2004) exclusive of investment income be appropriated
to cover authorized expenditures. This amount is included in current deferred contributions, with $3,651,395
($4,226,361 in 2003) being included on the statement of financial position in long-term deferred contributions.
Investment income earned on this long-term unrestricted grant amounted to $237,982 ($287,996 in 2003).
CPRN has also received certain restricted donations for the President’s Innovation Fund (PIF) amounting to
$181,172 ($152,208 in 2003). Authorized expenditures relating to the PIF amounted to $73,805 ($25,775 in
2003), resulting in $276,755 ($169,388 in 2003) being reported as deferred contributions relating to this Fund,
of which $245,000 ($169,388 in 2003) is classified as current.

Deferred contributions are detailed as follow:

2004
$
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2003
$

Project funding
Balance, beginning of year
Amounts received
Expenditures
Balance, end of year

208,485
2,879,877
(2,874,969)
213,393

302,817
2,594,612
(2,688,944)
208,485

President’s Innovation Fund
Balance, beginning of year
Amounts received
Expenditures
Balance, end of year

169,388
181,172
(73,805)
276,755

42,955
152,208
(25,775)
169,388

5,076,361
(597,143)
4,479,218
4,969,366

6,405,887
(1,329,526)
5,076,361
5,454,234

Long-term deferred grant contribution
Balance, beginning of year
Annual appropriation
Balance, end of year
Total deferred contributions

7

INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in working capital items are as follows:

2004
$
Grants and other amounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred contributions

8

(213,562)
(17,139)
(484,836)
(715,537)

2003
$
110,830
26,368
(150,820)
(1,297,425)
(1,311,047)

COMMITMENT
The organization has a long-term lease agreement expiring on October 31, 2007 which calls for lease
payments of $529,768 for the rental of office space. The minimum lease payments for the next four
years are $158,930 in 2005, 2006 and 2007 and $52,978 in 2008.

57

58

Board of Directors, from left to right, back row: Allan C. Shaw, Jim Dinning, Robert Greenhill, Robert D. Brown.
Front row: Hon. Margaret Norrie McCain, Arthur Kroeger, Chair, Michèle Thibodeau-DeGuire, Judith Maxwell, Janice Charette and Peter Hicks.
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How to Obtain CPRN Publications
Research reports, discussion papers, background papers,
and various summaries and workshop reports are available on
request at (613) 567-7500 or may be downloaded free of charge
from the CPRN Web site at http://www.cprn.org
Hard copies of publications released prior to 2001 may be
ordered through Renouf Publishing Company Limited
Telephone: (613) 745-2665 • Fax: (613) 745-7660
http://www.renoufbooks.com

Renouf store locations:
Ottawa Store: 711⁄2 Sparks Street
Tel: (613) 238-8985 • Fax: (613) 238-6041
Toronto Store: 12 Adelaide Street West
Tel: (416) 363-3171 • Fax: (416) 363-5963
They can also be downloaded free of charge from the
CPRN Web site at http://www.cprn.org

Subscription to E-network
A free weekly e-mail service, e-network, provides short
updates on research projects or corporate activities.
To subscribe, visit www.e-network.ca

Subscription to NetworkNews
CPRN publishes a quarterly newsletter,
which is available through subscription
Telephone: (613) 567-7500 • Fax: (613) 567-7640
The newsletter can also be accessed from
the CPRN Web site at http://www.cprn.org
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